
 

 

 
 

Date of issue:18 September 2023 
 
  
MEETING: CORPORATE IMPROVEMENT SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 
 (Councillors Manku (Chair), Shaik (Vice Chair), Escott, 

Hulme, Iftakhar, Mann, Matloob, Mohindra, O’Kelly and 
Stedmond) 

  
DATE AND TIME: TUESDAY, 26TH SEPTEMBER, 2023 AT 6.30 PM 
  
VENUE: COUNCIL CHAMBER - OBSERVATORY HOUSE, 25 

WINDSOR ROAD, SL1 2EL 
  
DEMOCRATIC SERVICES 
OFFICER: 
(for all enquiries) 

MANIZE TALUKDAR 
 
07871 982 919 

 
 

NOTICE OF MEETING 
 
You are requested to attend the above Meeting at the time and date indicated to deal 
with the business set out in the following agenda. 
 

 
STEPHEN BROWN 

Chief Executive 
 

 
AGENDA 

 
PART I 

 
AGENDA 

ITEM 
REPORT TITLE PAGE WARD 

    
    

  
APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
  
CONSTITUTIONAL MATTERS 
  

1.   Declarations of Interest 
 

  



 
AGENDA 

ITEM 
REPORT TITLE PAGE WARD 

 

 

 All Members who believe they have a 
Disclosable Pecuniary or other Interest in any 
matter to be considered at the meeting must 
declare that interest and, having regard to the 
circumstances described in Section 9 and 
Appendix B of the Councillors' Code of Conduct, 
leave the meeting while the matter is discussed. 
 

  

 
2.   Minutes of the last meeting held on 25 July 2023 

 
1 - 12  

 
SCRUTINY CHALLENGE ITEMS 
  

3.   Quarterly Improvement and Recovery report 
 

To Follow ALL 
 

4.   Budget Outturn Report 
 

13 - 44 ALL 
 

5.   Budget Monitoring Report 
 

45 - 76 ALL 
 
MATTERS FOR INFORMATION 
  

6.   Revised CISC Draft Work Programme 
 

To Follow  
 

7.   Verbal updates from Chairs of Task & Finish 
Groups 
 

Verbal 
Report 

 

 
8.   Attendance Report 

 
77 - 78  

 
9.   Date of Next Meeting - 24 October 2023 

 
  

 
 

Press and Public 
 
Attendance and accessibility:  You are welcome to attend this meeting which is open to the press 
and public, as an observer. You will however be asked to leave before any items in the Part II agenda 
are considered.  For those hard of hearing an Induction Loop System is available in the Council 
Chamber. 
 
Webcasting and recording:  The public part of the meeting will be filmed by the Council for live 
and/or subsequent broadcast on the Council’s website.  The footage will remain on our website for 12 
months.  A copy of the recording will also be retained in accordance with the Council’s data retention 
policy.  By entering the meeting room and using the public seating area, you are consenting to being 
filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound recordings.  
 
In addition, the law allows members of the public to take photographs, film, audio-record or tweet the 
proceedings at public meetings.  Anyone proposing to do so is requested to advise the Democratic 
Services Officer before the start of the meeting.  Filming or recording must be overt and persons 
filming should not move around the meeting room whilst filming nor should they obstruct proceedings 
or the public from viewing the meeting.  The use of flash photography, additional lighting or any non 
hand held devices, including tripods, will not be allowed unless this has been discussed with the 
Democratic Services Officer. 
 



 
AGENDA 

ITEM 
REPORT TITLE PAGE WARD 

 

 

Emergency procedures:  The fire alarm is a continuous siren.  If the alarm sounds Immediately 
vacate the premises by the nearest available exit at either the front or rear of the Chamber and 
proceed to the assembly point: The pavement of the service road outside of Westminster House, 31 
Windsor Road. 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

1 

Corporate Improvement Scrutiny Committee – Meeting held on Tuesday, 25th 
July, 2023. 

 
Present:-  Councillors Manku (Chair), Shaik (Vice-Chair), Escott, Hulme, Iftakhar, 

Mann, Matloob, Mohindra and O’Kelly 
  
Also present under Rule 30:- Councillor Chahal 
  

 
PART 1 

 
1. Declarations of Interest  

 
No declarations were made. 
  
 

2. Minutes of the meeting held on 25 July  
 
Following discussion, the minutes of the meeting held on 27 June 2023 were 
agreed, subject to the following sentence being inserted at paragraph 10, 
page 6 of the minutes, to ensure clarity of the minutes: 

‘A question was asked about a £34k discrepancy in the table on page 6.’ 

Resolved – That the minutes be agreed, subject to the above amendment. 
 

3. Asset Disposal Programme  
 
The Chair welcomed Committee Members, officers and the Lead Member for 
Financial Oversight, Council Assets, Procurement, & Revenues and Benefits 
to the meeting.  

He advised that the Committee had received the message below from one of 
the Commissioners, and would be read out by the Monitoring Officer: 

‘I apologise to the Committee that these comments have had to be read to 
you on the night rather than made available to you earlier in the process. I am 
grateful to Stephen Taylor for bringing them to your attention. 

Following discussions with the report authors and the chief executive, it has 
been agreed that the work programme report should be noted by the 
Committee but that a revised programme will be brought to the September 
meeting for approval of the future work programme.   

The proper functioning of scrutiny is the subject of a specific direction. This is 
because one significant factor in Slough’s past failings was the inability of the 
organisation to support and draw on the skills of all Councillors to 
constructively monitor and challenge the administration and the executive. 

In response to this, and as the name of the Committee makes clear, scrutiny 
has been redesigned with the key aim of focusing attention upon the 
improvement and recovery programme. 

Page 1

AGENDA ITEM 2



2 
Corporate Improvement Scrutiny Committee - 25.07.23 

2 

The suggested work programme only partially does this. Its lack of focus on 
that agenda, the dispersal of effort on other topics and a methodology that 
relies upon updates from the executive without a critical commentary is not 
sufficient to discharge the direction. Reviewing the work programme in 
September will allow these shortcomings to be remedied. Members are rightly 
keen to start work in the task and finish groups. However, it will be important 
to ensure that those are focussed on the key improvement and recovery 
priorities. It is not obvious that either the asset disposal programme nor the 
performance of Adult Social Care would be in the top 3 priorities then. If 
members are minded to set up a task and finish group before the meeting in 
September then picking the Adult Social Care topic most clearly aligns with 
those criteria. The Asset Disposal Programme task and finish group could be 
agreed in principle this evening and confirmed (or otherwise) in September. 

More generally the Committee will share the Commissioner’s disappointment 
that these papers were not produced to the agreed timetable leaving very little 
time for comment from the Commissioners and subsequent discussion of the 
issues with the Committee’s chair. The poor quality of the Asset Disposal 
paper and the lateness of the Scrutiny Work Programme does not indicate the 
level of respect that the Committee deserves. The Committee will wish to 
keep a careful eye on these matters in future. 

Thank you for your attention and please once again accept my apologies for 
the late submission of this advice.’ 

The Chair thanked the Commissioner for his comments. He emphasised the 
importance of reflecting seriously on the Commissioner’s comments regarding 
the asset disposal report.  Although the Commissioner was critical of the 
report, on 13 July the Commissioners’ office had advised that that they were 
content with the asset disposal report.  The Committee agreed with the 
Commissioner’s revised assessment of the report, i.e., that it was not of 
sufficiently high quality. Members would have an opportunity to discuss this 
further under the relevant agenda item.   

In the Chair’s view, the process of producing the work programme had not 
been disrespectful to either the chair or the Committee.  It had been produced 
with the assistance of the Council’s statutory scrutiny officer, his team and the 
CfGS (the Centre for Governance & Scrutiny).  It was regrettable that report 
timescales had not been adhered to and therefore the Commissioners had 
insufficient time to fully comment. Going forward this would be rectified.   

Regarding the content of the work programme, it was Members’ 
understanding that this process should be member-led, as per the directions.  
In any case, it was not intended to be a static document, and would be 
reviewed (and improved on as Scrutiny Members developed their knowledge 
base) at regular intervals, as recommended by the CfGS. The Committee 
would give due regard to the Commissioner’s comments.  

At the recent CISC work programming workshop, budget & savings delivery, 
asset disposal, and the Government intervention in SCF (Slough Children 
First) had been identified as the three top areas of focus – and all three were 
critical to the Council’s recovery. These topics had been scheduled to be 

Page 2



3 
Corporate Improvement Scrutiny Committee - 25.07.23 

3 

considered by the Committee within its first 3 meetings. In the Chair’s view, 
the proposed T&F (task & finish) groups should be launched at the meeting.  

A Member asked to what degree the Committee was obliged to follow the 
Commissioner’s advice. 

The Monitoring Officer reminded Members that the Commissioners had the 
powers of the Directions from the Secretary of State, and emphasized the 
importance of giving substantial weight to the Commissioners’ advice. 

The Chair stated that the Committee would focus on improvement and 
recovery, follow the Directions and respect the Commissioner’s views, 
however, the process should be independent and member led. 

A Member stated that the Commissioner had provided constructive criticism 
and had highlighted weaknesses in the work programme and Slough’s past 
failings. It was important for the committee to understand how the scrutiny of 
specific areas would contribute to improvement. The work programme needed 
to be reviewed. He was happy to follow the Commissioner’s advice that the 
asset disposal T&F group be agreed in principle at the meeting.  Councillors 
needed to consider their skill sets and how they could best contribute to the 
scrutiny process.  The Committee needed to provide critical commentary as 
flagged up by the Commissioner. He added that the Commissioner had asked 
Members to move at pace but asked that a work programme be submitted in 
September.  He stressed the importance of making informed decisions. The 
Asset Disposal programme was fundamental to the Council’s financial 
recovery and therefore needed to be monitored, which was the rationale 
behind the proposed T&F group. 

The Chair stated that the Committee agreed with the Commissioners. The 
work programme represented cross-party involvement and reiterated that it 
would be reviewed.  The asset disposal programme was crucial to 
improvement and recovery.  The vice chair echoed the Chair’s comments. 

A member stated that the Committee should focus on the four priority areas 
identified by Commissioners for improvement; namely,  IT,  finance,  HR and  
culture change. 

A Member endorsed the Commissioner’s comments and agreed that the work 
programme only partially focussed on improvement and recovery. She was of 
the view that it was singularly focussed on assets at the expense of other 
topics which were more pertinent to the improvement and recovery outcomes.  

At the work programming workshop, her group had not identified the asset 
disposal strategy as a priority area.  She was not suggesting that it should not 
be looked at, but Members should consider where their efforts would best 
spent. In her view, it would not be a T&F on asset disposal.  She agreed that 
the report was inadequate and Members should share and endorse the 
Commissioner’s concerns regarding the report.  The Committee should set 
out its expectations of the standard and quality of reports required, to enable it 
to fulfil its function. The Commissioner’s considered advice would allow 
Members a role in representing their residents.  However, the Commissioners 

Page 3



4 
Corporate Improvement Scrutiny Committee - 25.07.23 

4 

could choose to use their formal powers, therefore, the Committee could not 
afford to disregard the Commissioner’s advice. 

The Monitoring Officer confirmed that the Commissioners had reserve powers 
which would allow them to the exercise all aspects of the scrutiny function. His 
earlier statement about the importance of giving ‘substantial weight’ to their 
advice related to the message he had read out. 

A Member stated that the Scrutiny committee and the Audit committee were 
the main fora for scrutinising the Council’s performance. However, it was 
crucial that all Councillors be involved in this function.  She proposed 
establishing a robust framework to undertake the work, to review the work 
programme, following which key areas of investigation could be identified. 

She pointed out that children’s services (which had been under intervention 
since 2015) and adult social care, were the two single largest areas of spend 
for the Council. In her view CISC alone was not a sufficiently resourced forum 
to undertake this scale of work.  

A Member stated that the committee should take Commissioner’s guidance 
seriously focussing its efforts on improvement & recovery. 

The Chair moved discussion to the substantive item – the asset disposal 
report.  He stated that this item had both strategic and political implications, 
would have an impact on residents and was central to the improvement and 
recovery journey and therefore had been identified as a priority area of focus 
at the work programming workshop.  

He stated that Members had expressed concerns regarding the quality of the 
report. He was disappointed with its poor quality and lack of structure, and the 
fact that it was not presented on the corporate template. It failed to provide the 
level of detail necessary to enable the Committee to sufficiently scrutinise key 
issues.  He proposed the following motion. 

‘That Cabinet should ensure that reports to the Committee about their portfolio 
areas should be of sufficient quality and depth to respect the role of the 
Committee in the Council’s recovery process, by allowing and assisting the 
Committee to do its job well. And as a minimum, be presented on the agreed 
corporate template, unless previously agreed by the Chair.’  

He advised that Members could vote on the motion at conclusion of the asset 
disposal item. (However, the Chair did not return to this motion later in the 
meeting, it was not seconded or voted on) 

He also proposed that the asset disposal T&F group discussion should be 
brought forward as a matter of urgency and could also be voted on at the end 
of the item.  

The draft terms of reference for the T&F group were tabled. 

The Chair invited the Lead Member to present the report. 

The Lead Member for Financial Oversight, Council Assets, Procurement, & 
Revenues and Benefits reminded Members of important role played by the 

Page 4



5 
Corporate Improvement Scrutiny Committee - 25.07.23 

5 

Commissioners’ and their reserve powers, in the light of which their guidance 
could not be ignored. 

He went on to say that the document was not a full report and was intended to 
act as a briefing note. It had been produced in response to the questions 
submitted, within tight timescales. He would respond to each question in turn. 

• How confident are we that asset disposals will do what we need for our 
improvement and recovery?  

 

The Lead Member replied that he was very confident, adding that the current 
challenges had been brought about by the actions of the previous 
administration, namely asset disposal at pace.  The Council had set an asset 
sales target of £400M (of which £200M had been achieved, with no losses 
made on those sales) in a relatively short time span. An additional £100m 
worth of assets would be sold by the end of financial year. Therefore, three 
quarters of the commitment had already been achieved. The intention now 
was to move from a reactive to a pro-active approach, to ensure best value for 
the Council and its residents. 

• How well has the asset disposals programme gone so far? 
 

It had gone as well as could be expected, under the circumstances – namely 
poor market conditions, economic decline and poor record keeping at the 
Council.  All assets sold to date had been commercial assets, the sale of 
which had not impacted residents. His administration was committed to 
preserving community assets and there were no plans to sell cemeteries or 
the crematorium.   

• What will be the impact on residents of selling these assets?  
 

The Lead Member stated that it would be nil, as none were community assets 
and were on the whole commercial/business assets, many of which could be 
developed for the benefit of slough.  Those assets awaiting sale were also 
commercial, operational or development assets. 

• What obstacles were there to achieving the targets set for asset disposal 
receipts? 
 

The Lead Member responded that poor record keeping and unfavourable 
market conditions would have an impact, however, he was confident that 
sales’ targets would be met.  

The Executive Director of Housing advised that market conditions and the UK 
economy were the biggest challenge. However, prices in Slough had 
maintained their levels due to local factors and its location.  Inflation, Brexit, 
the energy crisis, the war in Ukraine and other global and national economic 
factors all played a part. Sale performance to date had been strong, with 
assets achieving more than the stated guide price, and if this continued, he 
expected to exceed targets. 

Page 5



6 
Corporate Improvement Scrutiny Committee - 25.07.23 

6 

• Why did paragraph 4.6 mention that Slough had a poor reputation in the 
development and investment industry, when he had stated that Slough 
had positive points as an investment area? 
 

The Executive Director of Housing clarified that in locational terms Slough had 
a positive industrial and commercial history, and the prices offered reflected 
the positive side of this. Its proximity to London, for example, meant there 
were alternative locations for investors. This was particularly true of the office 
market, with investors preferring South-East and London locations.  Most 
global/international investors had little knowledge of Slough. These 
challenges were being addressed. He had attended a successful event in 
Central London to promote Slough and to increase the marketability of assets. 
Slough had many positives which were recognised by others; however, its 
reputation and image were less good than they should be and this too was 
being addressed. 

• The report did not set out how the asset disposal programme was 
contributing to improvement and recovery; there were no figures provided 
about how revenue would be generated to clear the debts. What were the 
timelines for achieving this? 
 

The Executive Director of Finance & Commercial clarified that the Council’s 
debt and the deficit (the latter was explained in section 1 of the report) were 
two separate things. The capitalisation direction from Central Government, 
allowed Slough to use its capital receipts (which had been factored into the 
MTFS) to support revenue costs, otherwise the Council would have been in a 
deficit/negative budget position, which is not permitted under law.  

The sale of assets was supporting the current financial position. The 
September budget monitoring report to Cabinet would clearly set out the 
outturn position for the last financial year.  The deficit was being reduced, and 
the figures for this had not changed since being reported to Council in March 
2023. However, the model was being updated. She clarified that the timing of 
the briefing note to scrutiny was out of sync with the September Cabinet 
report, which would provide more detailed figures and information.   

She added that the Council had set a balanced budget in March 2023 and 
formulated an MTFS (medium term financial strategy). Timelines would 
become clearer in September. The capitalisation directive would remain in 
place for the next three years and the Council could achieve a balanced 
budget on the premise that it was reducing its debt and selling assets.  She 
clarified that the Council’s debt would never be reduced to zero, as debt levels 
fluctuated daily as part of the Council’s cash flow and treasury management 
strategies. Whereas the deficit budget would come down to zero in the future.  
Further training on budgets and finance was planned for scrutiny Members in 
September. 

The Lead Member added that the asset disposal strategy was projected to 
achieve £400m.  

• Could she provide further clarification on the figures in the report relating 
to the deficit and debt? Could a list of all the assets be provided? 

Page 6



7 
Corporate Improvement Scrutiny Committee - 25.07.23 

7 

The Executive Director of Finance and Commercial reiterated that the deficit 
was different from the Council’s debt.  

The Executive Director of Housing advised that the asset disposal programme 
was not linked to the Council’s debt. The total value of assets had been 
estimated and he was confident that an additional £300m worth of assets 
would be sold this year. The value of an asset could only be realised once 
sold. Monies earned from the sale of assets could be used to service the 
Council’s debt, (which would in turn reduce interest charges, which 
contributed to the deficit) and could be used to cover running costs, which in 
turn would reduce the overall deficit. The value of the assets was not linked to 
the size of the deficit. 

• Regarding poor record keeping – had any assets been missed off the 
register?  
 

The Executive Director of Housing advised that some assets not on the 
original list had been discovered. While others had restricted covenants, 
which may not affect their value but may require further investigation and 
deeds located. This could make the sale process trickier and longer. 
However, these issues would not affect the overall value of the sales of those 
assets identified for sale.  

The Lead Member advised that the Council was not planning to sell all its 
assets, just enough of them to enable it to meet its debt burden. 

• Were there any plans to sell the libraries? 
 

The Lead Member stated that community assets would be preserved for 
residents, adding that the change in approach from a reactive to proactive 
position meant that the Council was assessing how to best utilise its 
community assets. 

• How a buyer chose to develop an industrial premises was likely to have an 
impact on residents – was there any process of assurance for residents 
regarding how these premises would be developed? 
 

The Executive Director of Housing advised that it would depend on individual 
premises, all of which could only be developed in accordance with the local 
planning framework.  For example, the Montem site had pre-existing planning 
permission for a residential development. Other sites may have restrictive 
covenants on them. Vendor powers such as adding covenants could also be 
used. 

• Although the report used layman’s terms and was easy to understand, it 
was disappointing that it had not been presented on the corporate 
template. The report touched on areas requiring critical commentary.  For 
example, paragraph 1.5 alluded to fund asset purchases that had not been 
included in prior years’ accounts, including interest payments and the 
principal loan amounts – how far back did this go? 
 

Page 7



8 
Corporate Improvement Scrutiny Committee - 25.07.23 

8 

The Executive Director of Finance & Commercial advised that the 2018/19 
statement of accounts were still outstanding and awaiting commentary from 
auditors.  It went back that far, possibly further. The Council had got into 
difficulties by failing to recognise the full cost of borrowing in the past. This 
was now fully recognised, monitored and had been factored into the budget. 

• Had the capitalisation directive been confirmed by Central Government 
and what was it subject to? 
 

The Executive Director of Finance & Commercial advised that the current 
status of the capitalisation directive was ‘minded to’ and could only move to a 
formal footing once the statement of accounts had been signed off. She 
added that she was in close contact with colleagues in Central Government 
and had updated them regarding the statement of accounts, which had also 
been reported to the Audit & Corporate Governance Committee. 

• What action had been undertaken to correct the MRP (minimum revenue 
provision)?  
 

The Executive Director of Finance & Commercial clarified that the minimum 
revenue provision was the amount set aside for repaying loans. The budget 
approved by March Council had included an updated MRP position, which 
would be subject to change through the year as assets were sold. The first 
budget monitoring report to September Cabinet would provide more detail.  

• Why had the format and quality of the report been so poor as to arouse 
criticism from the Commissioners? The recommendation from overview 
and scrutiny about the format of reports had been ignored. 
 

The Lead Member reiterated that the briefing note had received approval from 
the Commissioners. Nevertheless, going forward this issue would be rectified.  
The Executive Director of Housing stated that the topic had not been on the 
work programme and he apologised for format of the briefing note, which had 
been produced within tight timescales.  

A Member asked the Lead Member to clarify his views on the report.  The 
Lead Member responded that the asset disposal paper fulfilled the criteria for 
a briefing note but did not qualify as a substantive report. He agreed that 
reports to scrutiny needed to be of high quality. Going forward, there were 
lessons learnt which would be applied. 

A Member stated that she welcomed the Lead Member’s assurance that no 
assets had been sold at a loss and that community assets would be 
preserved. Had there been any plans to sell the crematorium or the 
cemeteries in the past?  

The Lead Member advised that it was his understanding that everything on 
the original list had been intended for sale, however, the list had since been 
revised. 

The Executive Director of Housing advised that these assets had been listed 
on the original asset register, however, a comprehensive review was being 
undertaken as part of the estates’ strategy. It should be noted that listing 

Page 8



9 
Corporate Improvement Scrutiny Committee - 25.07.23 

9 

items on the asset register did not amount to a commitment to sell them. All 
assets would be assessed to see what could be rationalised in a bid to reduce 
the Council’s revenue expenditure. Other means such as gifting may be used.  
His team had clarified the value of significant number of commercial assets, 
which alongside other activities, were closing the gap. This would allow the 
next phase of the asset disposal programme to be rolled out in a more 
considered and structured manner. 

The Lead Member added that the success of the asset disposal programme 
thus far had meant that the crematorium could be taken off the sale list. 

• The report raised issues around legacy suppliers, could he provide more 
information regarding this? 
 

The Executive Director of Housing stated that there were a number of 
inherited commercial advisors (carrying out rent collection) and suppliers 
whose  performance of concern. This situation was being monitored and the 
pool of advisors/suppliers was being increased. 

• The list of Community assets was in the public domain and it would benefit 
both Councillors and the community if this were to be published.  This 
could function as a mechanism to ensure his administration adhered to its 
commitment to preserving community assets.  
 

The Lead Member advised that as part of the move from a reactive to a 
proactive position, an estates’ strategy, which was a substantial piece of work 
was underway. A draft report would be submitted to Cabinet in the autumn for 
approval and no asset lists would be released before then. 

The Director of Housing added that the following submission to Cabinet, the 
strategy would be shared with scrutiny and Cabinet again for final approval by 
the end of the year or early in 2024.  

A Member made the point that the asset register should not be confused with 
the asset disposal list. 

• The graph at paragraph 2.1 showed capital receipts. It was his 
understanding that most of the assets sold to date had been sold at a loss, 
i.e., below market value, as defined by the RICS Redbook valuation. Could 
he confirm whether this was the case? 
 

The Executive Director of Housing advised that in terms of the overall 
portfolio, most assets had achieved significantly more than had been paid for 
them. There was a robust marketing process in place and none of the assets 
had been sold below market value and all sales to date had achieved above 
the guide price. 

The Executive Director of Finance and Commercial added that each asset 
needed to have formal independent report to ensure best value and best 
consideration. The Council was not permitted to sell assets below market 
value and this would require the permission of the Secretary of state. 

Page 9



10 
Corporate Improvement Scrutiny Committee - 25.07.23 

10 

• (To the Executive Director of Housing) Did he plan to attend any future 
industry events e.g., REiiF to promote Slough and raise its profile? 
 

The Executive Director of Housing replied that he was looking at a range of 
activities aimed at promoting inward investment, increasing jobs and retail 
activity and value. He expected Slough to have a significant presence at next 
year’s UK REiif (real estate investment infrastructure) event. He and the 
Executive Director of Finance & Commercial used their professional networks 
to regularly meet industry professionals in a bid to promote Slough generally 
and particularly those third-party assets in the town centre the development of 
which had stalled. 

• How important was the success of the asset disposal programme to the 
overall improvement and recovery of the Council, in the context of the 
directions from the Secretary of state? 
 

The Lead Member responded that the Council was bankrupt and therefore the 
success of the strategy was critical. The Executive Director of Finance & 
Commercial added that financial success underpinned the financial health of 
the organisation and as such the strategy was one of the key factors, but not 
the only one. 

• Some assets acquired in last ten years may have a low value. What was 
the total value of the low value assets?  
 

The Executive Director of Housing advised that the retail market had changed 
in recent years and that values changed significantly and rapidly over time. 
Some retail assets had been bought recently and these would be assessed 
for their potential sale value, taking into consideration market fluctuations, 
length of covenants etc. The number of assets with a low value were few. 

• Paragraph 2.1 of the report showed capital receipts received to date 
amounted to £220M, however, his calculations showed a variance of £5M 
in actual receipts - could he clarify. 
 

The Executive Director of Housing advised that the total was in fact £215 plus 
£20M which related to the sale of the Adelphi, the completion of which had 
been delayed.  

• It was important that the Committee recognise that the asset disposal 
programme alone would not resolve all the issues faced by the Council. 
There was a need to assess departmental budgets in a bid to make further 
savings and consider whether an additional rise in council tax would be 
required next year. The Committee should bear in mind all the other issues 
that would impact the Council and its residents when making its decision 
about which T&F groups to launch.  
 

• A number of assets in table 3.2 were rated amber or amber/red which 
should be cause for concern. How confident was he that these would  
achieve receipts? 

 

Page 10



11 
Corporate Improvement Scrutiny Committee - 25.07.23 

11 

The Executive Director of Housing stated the amber/red ratings related to 
assets where there had been a need for caution due to the current economic 
climate, or if there had been a downturn in a particular sector, and those 
where there were issues of record keeping, missing documentation, where 
additional work would need to be undertaken to prepare them for sale. 

Resolved – That the report be noted. 
 

4. Scrutiny Work Programme  
 
The draft terms of reference for the asset disposal T&F group were tabled. 

The Chair asked Members to bear in mind the Commissioner’s comments 
when discussing this item. 

A Member suggested that the proposed asset disposal T&F group should not 
proceed. She added that the report stated that the terms of reference did not 
follow the standard governance procedures for establishing a T&F group and 
she was concerned about the erosion of standard governance practice.  Part 
of the stated remit of the T&F would be to set up an estate strategy, however 
this would be superseded by the Estates’ strategy currently underway and 
which would be reported to Cabinet in September. Under the circumstances a 
T&F group would have little impact. Furthermore, the Commissioner’s view 
should be respected.  

A Member thought that the asset disposal T&F group could be agreed in 
principle at the meeting but this did not find favour with the Committee. 

The Chair repeated that the draft programme had been developed based on a 
work programming workshop attended by the Committee. He thanked the 
scrutiny officer and the CfGS for supporting the process and sought 
comments from Members to firm up the items for the September meeting of 
the Committee.  The Head of Governance & Scrutiny advised that following 
discussions with the Executive Director of Finance & Commercial and the 
Executive Director Strategy & Improvement, the Chair would produce another 
work program for the next meeting. 

The Monitoring Officer reminded Members that the Commissioners had 
suggested that a revised work programme should be submitted at the next 
meeting. 

The vice chair stated that adult social care should be the topic of a T&F group.  

A Member stated that life expectancy of Slough residents was a complex topic 
that could not be resolved by a T&F group alone. In any case, looking at life 
expectancy would inevitably include children and there was insufficient time 
for such a piece of work.  Adult social care and its performance under the new 
inspection regime should be looked at. 

The Executive Director of Adult Social Care stated that the proposal had merit 
and his team wanted to demonstrate readiness for the new inspection regime.  
A T&F group would help to raise the profile of the workstream, identify any 

Page 11



12 
Corporate Improvement Scrutiny Committee - 25.07.23 

12 

gaps and risks in current provision and recommend how resources could be 
best used to resolve these.  He added that health inequalities were a key 
issue for residents (both adults and children). 

Following extensive discussion, a Member proposed that health inequalities 
should be investigated at a later date which had supported from other 
members.  

As advised by the Commissioner, Members agreed that the report be noted, 
the work programme items proposed for September be agreed and a revised 
work programme for the rest of the year be submitted at the next meeting. 

Resolved – That: 

1) the work programme be noted;  
2) the proposed asset disposal T&F group should not proceed; 
3) a Task & Finish group on Adult Social Care be convened to be chaired 

by Cllr Hulme and comprising Cllrs Matloob, Escott, O’Kelly, Mohindra 
and Iftakhar, based on the terms of reference provided, minus all 
references to health inequalities; 

4) health inequalities be investigated at a later date; and 
5) a revised work programme be submitted to the September meeting of 

the Committee. 
 

5. Attendance Report  
 
Resolved – That the report be noted. 
 

6. Date of Next Meeting - 26 September 2023  
 
26 September, 2023. 
 
 

Chair 
 
 
(Note: The Meeting opened at 6.30 pm and closed at 8.57 pm) 
 

Page 12



 

 
 

 
 
The following two reports are the start of the scrutiny 
process for 2024/25 MTFS.  
 

1. Revenue & Capital Budget Outturn 2022-23  
2. Budget Monitoring Quarter 1 

 
The first report covers the outturn for the financial year 
2022-23 and the second reports covers the budget 
monitoring position as at Quarter 1. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 13

AGENDA ITEM 4



 

 
 

Slough Borough Council 
 

REPORT TO:     Cabinet 
  
DATE:  18 September 2023 
  
SUBJECT: Revenue and Capital Budget Outturn 2022-23 
  
CHIEF OFFICER: Adele Taylor – Executive Director, Finance & 

Commercial (Section 151 Officer) 
  
CONTACT OFFICER Neil Haddock – Interim Strategic Finance 

Manager, Financial Planning & Reporting 
  
WARD(S): All 
  
PORTFOLIO: Councillor Smith – Leader of the Council 

Councillor Chahal – Lead Member Financial 
Oversight 

  
KEY DECISION: YES 
  
EXEMPT: NO 
  
DECISION SUBJECT TO CALL IN: YES 
  
APPENDICES: A Capitalisation Direction letter 

B Commissioner’s Instruction No 1 
C Asset Sales 
D Capital Outturn 
 
 

1 Summary and Recommendations 
 

1.1 This report sets out the draft revenue and capital outturn position for Slough 
Borough Council for the year 2022/23 

 
 

Recommendations: 
 

 
Cabinet is recommended to: 

 
1. Approve the carry forwards requested by departments as set in paragraphs 8.1 

to 8.5 and Table 7 
 

2. Approve the proposed additions and amendments to the Capital Programme as 
set out in paragraph 8.6 and Table 8 

 
 
 
 

Page 14



 

 
 

Commissioner comment  
 
 
This report sets out the Council’s draft financial position for 2022/23 after the end of the 
financial year. The position should be considered provisional until all years’ accounts 
have been prepared and the audits signed off by the Council’s external auditors which 
could be some way off.  Associated issues may continue to be resolved or   identified 
that could affect the financial position. 
 
The Commissioners note the key elements of this report, summarised position for each 
of the ringfenced funds and refreshed assumptions relating to the capitalisation 
direction which at £301.9m to 31 March 2024 is higher than predicted in the budget 
approved by Council March 2023, which estimated a figure of £298.7m.  
 
The capitalisation direction is based in part on assumptions, he external environment is 
challenging and inevitably the situation will change. The Council should take all 
reasonable action and necessary steps to minimise the risk to which it is exposed and 
mitigate pressures where possible, to remain within the original estimates and 
demonstrate an improving financial trajectory. 
 

2 Report – Introduction 
 
2.1 Effective management of Slough Borough Council’s budget is critical to its financial 

recovery and the restoration of a balanced budget without the need for 
extraordinary use of capital receipts to support revenue expenditure.  This report 
sets out the draft outturn position for the Council’s budget in 2022/23 and makes 
recommendations to recognise and mitigate the risks arising from the underlying 
position reflected within the outturn position. 

 
2.2 Slough Borough Council has been balancing its revenue budget via the support of 

capital receipts under a capitalisation direction authorised by the Department of 
Levelling Up, Housing & Communities (DLUHC) since October 2021, as set out in 
the letter attached at Appendix A.  In support of this approach, Slough Borough 
Council developed a capitalisation direction model to estimate the level of capital 
receipts that would be required to support the revenue budget, as part of a broader 
financial recovery plan. 

 
2.3 In 2022/23 the original estimated level of capital receipts required to balance the 

revenue budget was £84.1m.  This report indicates that the final estimated level of 
capital receipts required is £59.2m, £24.9m less than originally expected.  This 
figure is based on a working assumption that carry forward requests are approved 
as part of this report. 

 
2.4 The improved financial position in 2022/23, where additional grants and better than 

expected recovery of Council Tax produced an additional £3.6m of income, means 
that the requirement for support from capital receipts/the capitalisation direction has 
reduced by the same amount. 

 

Page 15

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1028039/211025_letter_to_Slough_BC.pdf


 

 
 

2.5 2022/23 was a challenging year for the Council, not only due to the actions, savings 
and transformation needed due to its unique circumstances arising from the issuing 
of a S114 notice in 2021.  In addition, national economic factors have impacted 
local government, such as the rise in inflation and continuing increase in demand 
for services, in particular in relation to children’s and adult’s social care.  These 
underlying pressures are anticipated to continue throughout 2023/24. 

 
2.6 In terms of the financial management and associated financial controls and 

processes operating within Slough Borough Council, there continues to be a lot of 
work undertaken to establish a solid foundation of good practice and prudent 
financial management.  Some progress has been made in finalising Statements of 
Accounts for prior years but further work is needed to ensure systems, reporting, 
risk management and effective outturn forecasting and budget management are 
fully embedded.  The recruitment of a permanent Executive Director of Finance & 
Commercial, alongside recruitment campaigns to secure permanent appointments 
of Deputy Directors, Strategic Finance Managers and the teams that support them 
are anticipated to provide a valuable source of consistent and sustained financial 
management good practice, advice and leadership.  This will be essential to the 
continued improvement of financial management practices within the Council. 

 
2.7 In this context, the approach being taken in 2023/24 is building and improving upon 

the approach adopted in 2022/23, for example by ensuring that budget monitoring is 
undertaken and reported to CLT on a monthly basis, with formal reports submitted 
to Commissioners and Cabinet on a quarterly basis, reflecting best practice.  The 
format of reporting is also being enhanced to support greater transparency and 
accessibility, providing a mixture of narrative reporting alongside graphical and 
tabular reporting.  Key to effective decision making is the provision of relevant, 
reliable and timely information and the approach being proposed for 2023/24 is 
designed to enhance these requirements. 
 
 

3 GENERAL FUND  
 
 
3.1 The budget for 2022/23 required a Capitalisation Direction of £84.1m in order to 

balance.  The draft outturn position indicates that the Capitalisation Direction 
actually needed is £59.2m, a reduction of £24.9m.  

 
3.2 Within this overall position there are a number of significant variations.  Service 

departments collectively overspent by £13.2m, and Corporate Budgets collectively 
underspent by £33.9m.   In addition, the Collection Fund (which comprises Council 
Tax and Business Rate receipts) and Government Grants provided £4.1m more 
than had been budgeted for.  This amounts to an outturn position that is £24.9m 
better than the original budget.  

 
3.3 Table 1 shows the outturn in more detail, with commentary provided from 3.7 

onwards. 
 
 
 

Page 16



 

 
 

Table 1 – General Fund Outturn 
 

 
 

3.4 Having Service departments overspend significantly with a large underspend on a 
Corporate Contingency budget doesn’t necessarily support understanding and 
transparency of reporting.  Subject to further discussion with Commissioners, a 
different approach will be adopted for 2023/24 such that transparency and 
ownership of budgets is increased, for example by allocating funding to support 
contractual inflation, whilst ensuring that Corporate Budgets continue to be used 
prudently to drive improved budget management across the whole Council.  A 
cabinet decision on the virements required to facilitate this is included in the Quarter 
1 Budget Management Report. 
 

3.5 Significant work is underway to review and refresh the budget information held 
within the Council’s Enterprise Resource and Planning (ERP) system, such that 
budget managers are supported to undertake their roles and responsibilities 
effectively by providing access to timely, relevant and reliable information, that in 
turn will support effective operational and strategic decision making. 

 
3.6 The Capitalisation Direction provides the balance of funding needed to support the 

level of expenditure required. Slough has been able to use capital receipts for 
revenue purposes, which is not normally allowed under accounting rules.   In that 
context, it can also be seen that in 2022/23 Slough Borough Council controlled its 
finances better than originally anticipated resulting in a reduction in the level of 
potential support required by £24.9m, i.e. the sum of the underspend against the 
budgets and enhanced levels of income.  

 
3.7 In conjunction with this proposal, it is also proposed that the allocation of Corporate 

Budgets be reviewed with CLT, Commissioners and Cabinet, to support improved 
transparency and accountability in budget management.  This review would be 

Page 17



 

 
 

undertaken in the context of the Commissioners Instruction Number 1 attached 
at Appendix B. 

 
3.8 Service directorates were required to deliver savings in 2022/23, and progress 

against meeting the savings targets was monitored and reported on throughout the 
year.  The total target was £20.0.  Of this £13.5m was actually delivered, a shortfall 
of £6.5m.  The details by Directorate are shown in Table 2 below. 

 
Table 2 – Saving delivery Summary 
 

     
 
Service Draft Outturn  
 

3.9 People (Adults) – The overspend reported of £5.8m is principally driven by the 
increased demand for services to support vulnerable adults with learning disabilities 
and mental health challenges.  The demand for these services is increasing 
nationally, in part due to the pandemic which reduced the availability of care and 
support during lockdown periods contributing to the further development of eligible 
care needs.  This in turn put pressure on what continues to be a market of service 
provision with limited capacity.   

 
3.10 This situation is exacerbated by the increasing complexity of the assessed eligible 

care needs of individuals and a shortage of suitably qualified staff to meet their 
needs.  The combination of these factors is driving up the cost of care nationwide.  
Work is being undertaken within People (Adults) to develop alternative service 
delivery models that will support improved outcomes for individuals at lower cost to 
Slough Borough Council, linked to cost and budget improvements in 2023/24 and 
beyond. 

 
3.11 Adults had a challenging savings target to meet in 22/23 of £5.9m and achieved 

£4.2m of that; the gap will have contributed to the forecast overspend. Areas where 
the savings target was not achieved include Reablement efficiencies, and savings 
from reviews within the Mental Health service area. 

 
3.12 People (Children) excluding Slough Children First – There was an underspend 

of £0.1m, arising from a number of relatively small variations against budget.  The 
directorate delivered £0.8m of their £1.1m savings target.  The shortfall is caused 
by a delay on the project to reshape the Council’s children’s centres provision. 

 

Page 18

https://www.slough.gov.uk/downloads/file/3000/instruction-1-to-steve-mair-regarding-unallocated-resources-21-july-2022


 

 
 

3.13 Slough Children First – The value of the contract with Slough Children First was 
increased during the year. Despite this the level of demand and complexity of needs 
drove costs up further, resulting in an overspend of £1.3m.  The budget for Slough 
Children First has been increased by £4.6m in 2023/24 which, in part, addresses 
the budget pressures identified.  A separate report on this agenda looks in more 
detail at the financial pressures impacting upon Slough Children First, the 
implications arising from the financial years 2021/22 and 2022/23 and the potential 
future pressures arising.  The funding of prior year deficits is reflected in the 
separate Quarter 1 Budget Management also on this agenda. 

 
3.14 Slough Children’s First were set a net savings target of £2.6m.  This means were 

asked to absorb £2.1m of growth pressures as well as deliver gross savings of 
£4.7m.   The shortfall of £2.7m is therefore greater than the savings target because  
they were unable to absorb all of the growth pressures.  A significant element of this 
was due to legal costs arising from demand levels and court delays. 

 
3.15 Place and Community – This department covers a wide range of services, which 

have seen a range of variations against budget.  Overall the department delivered 
an underspend of £1.6m, primarily made up of underspends arising from vacant 
posts and the additional income generated by the introduction of garden waste 
collection charges.  However, there are some underlying pressures that will need to 
be addressed in the longer term, recognising that in the event that the vacancies 
are recruited to the headroom reduces.  In particular there are a number of 
pressures linked to challenging income targets, and increased contractual costs, 
e.g. the leisure management fee.   

 
3.16 Place and Community delivered £4.0m of their £4.6m savings during the year, with 

a saving in respect of the Leisure Management fee not having been achievable 
following negotiations concluded in July 2022. 

 
3.17 Monitoring Officer -  Underspend of £0.2m, arising from a number of relatively 

small under and overspends. 
 
3.18 Housing, Property & Planning – The outturn position is an overspend of £8.6m, 

which is in part driven by the implications arising from the establishment of this 
department part way through the 2022/23 financial year, and also from more 
fundamental cost drivers such as temporary accommodation demands and 
associated expenditure during the year and the impact of the rise in energy prices 
which overspent by £0.8m.  As part of the development of the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy (MTFS) covering the four years from 2024/25 through to 
2028/29, it is planned to undertake a comprehensive review of these budgets. 

 
3.19 Housing, Property & Planning met £1.0m of their £2.3m savings target in 2022/23. 

There was a saving requirement of £1.3 million in respect of renting out parts of 
Observatory House which was not met. 

 
3.20 Strategy and Improvement – The underspend of £1.2m has been delivered mainly 

due to a number of vacant posts. The directorate delivered its savings target of 
£1.8m. 

 
3.21 Finance and Commercial – The overspend of £0.5m has arisen primarily due to 

needing to clear a backlog of cases within the Revenue & Benefits service, which 

Page 19



 

 
 

required significant overtime but which has now been cleared.  In addition there has 
been a significant increase in the insurance premium which reflects increases 
across the insurance market, partly arising from the pandemic and a re-evaluation 
of risks.  A re-procurement of Slough Borough Council’s external insurance is being 
undertaken in 2023/24, which will be underpinned by a review of the scale and 
scope of risks faced, alongside an assessment of the value of risks that should be 
self-insured, the outcome of which will be reflected in the 2024/25 budget build. 

 
3.22 Corporate Budgets – The underspend of £34.0m has a number of different 

elements to explain it. The first and most significant is the Minimum Revenue 
Provision budget (MRP). This was set at £32.1m, but the outturn was significantly 
less than that at £17.7m, a one of underspend of £14.4m.  This variance arose 
because at the time the MRP budget was set there was no expectation that capital 
receipts would be used to repay historical debt and thus reduce it.  However, during 
the year we made debt repayments which significantly reduced the amount owed by 
the Council and thus the MRP that is required.  

 
3.23 The second main variance in Corporate Budgets was with the contingency budgets, 

in line with the Commissioners Instruction Number 1 attached at Appendix B.  
These amounted to £18.0m and the expenditure against them was only £5.3m, a 
one-off variance of £12.7m. This approach will be reviewed and discussed with the 
Commissioners and the outcome fed into the development of the MTFS as part of 
the preparation of the 2024/25 budget. 
 

 
4 HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA)  

 
 
4.1 The HRA accounts for revenue expenditure and income relating to the Council’s 

housing stock and is ringfenced from the General Fund.  It must include all costs 
and income relating to the Council’s housing landlord role (except in respect of 
households owed a homeless duty and provided accommodation in accordance 
with Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996). 
 

4.2 A prudent and pragmatic approach has been adopted to reflect the financial realities 
facing the Council, hence the HRA capital programme for the next five years has 
been reduced to £52.7m in comparison to £123.4m for the previous 5 year period.  
 

4.3 The HRA saw an in-year surplus of £3.7m in 2022.23 with favourable variances on 
both the expenditure and income side.  This is detailed in the table below.  The 
surplus will be transferred to HRA general reserves at the end of the financial year.  

 
4.4 Key areas of variance include –  
 

• Repairs & Maintenance Services - £0.9m mainly due to reduced expenditure on 
voids, electrical works, and lift maintenance. 

 
• Rents and Rates and Other overspend of £1.0m which was principally caused 

by the increase in energy costs seen last year.  
 

• Supervision and Management, where there was an underspend of £1.9m. 

Page 20

https://www.slough.gov.uk/downloads/file/3000/instruction-1-to-steve-mair-regarding-unallocated-resources-21-july-2022


 

 
 

 
• Rents – £1.5m over-recovery, due to annual rent increase and lower than 

expected rental loss from Voids and Right to Buy sales.  
 

Table 3 HRA Outturn Position 
 

 
 
 
 
5 DEDICATED SCHOOLS GRANT (DSG) 

 
 
5.1 Dedicated schools grant (DSG) is paid in support of local authority schools’ and 

education providers and covers four distinct funding blocks: 
 

1. Early Years Block (EYB) – Funding for pre-school aged children 
2. Schools Block (SB) – Funding for mainstream schools 
3. High Needs Block (HNB) - Funding children with Special Educational Needs 

and Disabilities 
4. Central Schools Services Block (CSSB) – Funding services provided by the 

Local Authority to support schools and education providers. 
 
5.2 The outturn for the DSG in 2022/23 is a deficit of £0.1m.  Table 3 below outlines the 

final outturn position for the 4 DSG blocks.  
 
 
 
 

Page 21



 

 
 

Table 4  Dedicated Schools Grant 
 

 
 
5.3 The overspend on the High Needs Block is principally caused by increased demand 

for in borough SEND placements and places at Special Schools. Although, due to 
tight financial management these overspends have come down considerably over 
the last 2 years.  The underspend on the Early Years Block was due to lower 
numbers of pre-school children than expected.   

 
5.4 The DfE have been tapering down the historic Central Schools Block (CSSB) spend 

by 20% for a number of years. Historic spend included in the CSSB DSG in 2022-
23 was £40k or 4% of the total CSSB allocation of £1,024k. The reduction of 20% 
(£8k) of historic spend in future years will be managed by looking at savings in other 
areas during each year of the reductions. For 2023-24 the CSSB budget has been 
balanced and will be approved by schools forum in September. Note that the 2022-
23 CSSB budget included a credit budget of £337k in error. Actual expenditure 
against the CSSB DSG allocation of £1,024 was an overspend of £53k. This has 
led to an overall overstated overspend of £390k. This budget anomaly has been 
corrected in 2023-24.  

 
5.5 All local authorities with DSG deficits are required to prepare and implement a 

deficit management plan, although the Department for Education (DfE) recognises 
that in some cases it may take several years for the situation to improve. 

 
5.6 Slough’s original deficit management plan was shared with the DfE in July 2021. 

The plan indicated that the deficit could potentially grow to £43m by 2024/25 if no 
mitigating actions were taken. Action is now being taken to reduce this significantly 
and it is anticipated that the annual in year deficit will be eliminated by 2026/27.    

 
5.7 To this extent the DfE agreed a safety valve management plan with Slough where it 

would write-off the historic deficit between 2022/23 and 2026/27.  The first payment 
of £10.8m was made in March 2023 with further payments due as follows:  

 
Year Safety Valve funding 

2022/23 10.800 
2023/24 3.240 
2024/25 3.240 
2025/26 3.240 

Page 22



 

 
 

2026/27 6.480 
Total 27.000 

 
5.8 The estimated cumulative deficit when the Safety Valve was agreed stood at 

£27,600k. The provisional outturn deficit is £25,567k, a reduction of £2,033k. The 
High Needs deficit needs to reduce by £10.800k to £15,070k as the first safety 
valve payment of £10,800k was received in late March 2023. Therefore, the net 
DSG deficit reduces to £14,767 from the £25,567k stated in the table.  

 
5.9 This is predicated on the authority undertaking to reach a positive in-year balance 

on the DSG by the end of 2025/26 and in each subsequent year.   
 
 
6 ASSET SALES 
 
 
6.1 The Council’s financial recovery plan is heavily dependent on the delivery of the 

asset disposal strategy. The Asset Disposal programme yielded capital receipts of 
£195m in 2022/23 and is forecast currently to yield £383.9m in total. The level of 
capital receipts achievable from the Asset Disposal Programme will be kept under 
review reflecting due diligence and market conditions, which could alter the total 
achieved. 

 
6.2 The receipts have been applied to pay down loans that were due which has had 

significant beneficial impact on the outturn for 2022/23, which also feeds through 
into 2023/24. 

 
6.3 More detail on the asset sales is provided in Appendix C 
 
 
7 CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
 
 
7.1 The General Fund capital programme saw an underspend of £12.0m against the 

budget of £28.7m.  There are carry forward requests amounting to £4.0m and if 
these are accepted then the final outturn is an underspend of £8.1m (small 
difference due to rounding). 

 
7.2 There were significant variances in Capital Schemes in Children’s Services, 

Housing, Property & Planning and in Place & Communities.  The most significant of 
these were a £5.5m underspend on remedial works at Nova House, and £1.1m 
underspend on Langley High Street Improvements, which was due to the budget 
being overstated. £1.7m underspend on Zone 1 - Sutton Lane Gyratory (MRT) 
which has been partially carried forward, and £1.3m overspend against budget 
related to Additional Transport & Highways Grant funded projects. The grant 
funding was received for this after the budget was set and has been further profiled 
into future years. Full detail is provided in Appendix D. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 23



 

 
 

Table 5 General Fund Capital Outturn 
 
 

 
 
 

7.3 The budget for HRA Capital schemes was £10.7m in 2022/23 and the outturn 
pending approval of carry forward requests was £9.3m, an underspend of 
£1.4m.  This was mostly due to an underspend on the Affordable Homes project 
and the RMI Capital Programme. The summary is shown in the table below. 
 
Table 6: Capital (HRA) 
 

 
 
 

8 Carry Forward Requests (Revenue and Capital) 
 

Revenue 
 
8.1 There are 7 carry forward requests coming from service and corporate 

departments, amounting to a total of £4.4m.  As a working assumption the reported 
outturn has assumed they will be approved.  Of the 7 requests 2 are particularly 
significant.  These are both Transformation budgets.  

 
8.2 The first is the IT Transformation Fund.  A budget of £3.5m for 2022/23 and £1.0m 

for 2023/24 was created during the 2022/23 financial year, a total of £4.5m for the 
programme as a whole.   As of the end of the year only £1.6m of the fund had been 
spent as the programme was slower to start than the budget timetable had allowed 
for.  The Transformation of IT is considered essential to Slough Borough Council’s 
recovery and as such a carry forward of the balance is requested.  

Page 24



 

 
 

 
8.3 The second is also a Transformation budget, this one for the wider Transformation 

Programme.  The budget was also created during the 2022/23 financial year, and is 
for £2.5m in each of 2022/23 and 2023/24, a total of £5.0m.   The programme was 
slower to start than the budget timetable had allowed for and as at the end of the 
financial year there was a balance of £1.8m against this code.  The programme 
remains a 2 year programme, and carrying forward the underspend from last year 
will allow it to continue.   

 
8.4 The full carry forward request for revenue items is given in the table below.  Other 

than the 2 mentioned above, 3 are requests to carry forward specific funding 
received, and the final two (Elections and Member laptops) are to carry forward a 
small element of underspend to cover anticipated additional costs in 2023/24.  
Lastly, there is a request to carry forward the 3 years of Matrix rebates paid at the 
end of 22/23.  The rebate had not been accounted for in the budget and the 
services were recharged at cost. The rebate was intended to be used as a resource 
to provide effective contract management. The carry forward is necessary to 
provide the funding resources to procure and deliver a new temporary labour 
contract including any transition arrangements due this financial year 23/24. 

 
8.5 The Proceeds of Crime Act carry forward request is in respect of ring-fenced 

income that was not fully spent in 2022/23. 
 

Table 7: Revenue carry-forward requests 
 

 
 
Capital (General Fund) 

 
8.6 The carry forward requests for Capital (General Fund) amount to £4.0m and are 

detailed in the table below.  As a working assumption, as with the revenue carry 
forwards requested, the outturn figures are presented on the basis that the carry 
forward requests are approved.   

Page 25



 

 
 

 
Table 8 Capital (General Fund) carry forward requests  

 

 
 

8.6 The carry forward requests for Capital (HRA) amount to £1.3m and are detailed in 
the table below.  All of them relate to ongoing works that have already been 
commissioned. 

 
Table 9 Capital (HRA) carry forward requests 

 

 
 
9 FUNDING 
 
9.1 Funding from Council Tax and Business Rates receipts and Government Grants 

was £4.1m in excess of that budgeted for, and this contributed to the Capitalisation 
Direction being less than had been expected when it was originally set.  However, it 
should be noted that a review of the accounting treatment of the Collection Fund in 
previous years is underway that still may yet impact on this position, and therefore 
the Capitalisation Direction.  The draft final position for the Capitalisation Direction 
is £59.2m against the original budget of £84.1m. 

Page 26



 

 
 

 
9.2 The first table below shows the budgets and outturn figures for the major funding 

stream blocks.  The second table gives an update on the Capitalisation Direction. 
 

Table 10 : Funding 
 

 
 
Capitalisation Direction 

 
9.3 The Capitalisation Direction (CD) model shows the annual budget gap in Slough’s 

finances for a period projected forward until the year 2028/29.   
 
9.4 The annual budget gap exists primarily because of the significant unfunded debt as 

well as other financial pressures that built up prior to 2017.  The total deficit was 
originally estimated to be £782m.  This was subsequently revised downwards and 
at the time of the last budget setting and period 9 budget management report was 
estimated to be £357m in total, and £57.0m for 2022/23.  There were some minor 
adjustments that needed to be made to that published figure and the correct figure 
at that time was actually £60.5m for 2022/23 and a total of £361m.  The actual draft 
outturn position shows a requirement for £59.2m.   

 
9.5 The changes in the Budget Gap model from the time of budget setting to the end of 

the financial year is shown in the table below 

 
Table 11 : Capitalisation Direction Summary 

 

 
 

9.6 The Budget Gap model is both a dynamic forward looking model and a look back to 
the past.  This remains necessary as, with the accounts for the past not all having 
been closed, previous years’ figures are still subject to change.  Looking forward, it 
builds in assumptions as to what pressures and savings there might be on annual 
budgets. 

Page 27



 

 
 

  
9.7 It is therefore of note that the budget gaps shown in the table above are not budget 

gaps against which savings requirements are to be established, but gaps after 
assuming a level of growth and savings in each of the following financial years that 
are already extremely challenging.  It is also worth noting that a reduction in the 
budget gap is therefore not an underspend, it is a reduction in the previously 
predicted shortfall of funding.  

  
9.8 The budget gap needs to be funded.  The gap changes in the light of changing 

circumstances; for example, control of in year budgets, delivery of savings, 
achievement of capital receipts and the optimal strategy for utilizing those capital 
receipts, linked to the Treasury Management strategy.  On this basis the Budget 
Gap model will be maintained month to month and reported on as part of the budget 
management cycle.   

  
9.9 Given the above it is worth emphasizing that none of the numbers are completely 

fixed; this is a dynamic and fluid environment that we are working in, and the model 
reflects that. 

 
9.10 The 22/23 budget contained an assumption that capital receipts of £84.1m would be 

required to balance the budget.  The total funding including capital receipts required 
was £189.4m.  In relation to this the outturn expenditure was £168.7m with funding 
excluding capital receipts totaling £109.5m.  Therefore the revised capital receipt 
requirement is £59.2m, a reduction of £24.9m for the year. 

 
The Budget Gap Model revisions 

  
9.11 The table below shows, at a very highly summarized level, the changes to the 

Budget Gap model brought about by the slightly better than expected outturn 
position. 

 
Table 12 Detailed Summary of Budget Gap 

 

 
 
9.12 The model has been reset to show the budget gap rolled forward from the 2022/23 

financial year, and then adjusted for this and future years on the basis of a number 
of assumptions. 

  

Page 28



 

 
 

9.13 The figures are all incremental figures.  This means they show they change year on 
year from today’s base position.  Using one figure as an example, in 2022/23 a 
£7.5m budget was to allow the creation of a reserve to meet redundancy costs.  
This was a one-off budget, it has been reduced in 2023/24 by £7.5m to become 
zero.  The table therefore shows a reduction of £7.5m in that budget this year. 

  
9.14 The model assumes the following: 
  

1. The following year’s budget gap rolls forward and is then subject to incremental 
changes. 

  
2. It is assumed that every financial year balances against the assumptions made in 

the model, that there is no over or underspend. 
  

3. The Emerging Pressures covers this year’s contingency budget, the loss of income 
from assets as they are sold, the removal of time-limited Transformation budgets, 
and the transfer of debt from short to long term. 

  
4. There is additional growth required every year to cover pressures from 

demography, inflation and other new pressures of £10m 
  

In addition there is £1.4m per year included to reflect pay up lifts; this is higher  
 (£2.8m) in 2024/25.   
  

There is an additional pressure in 2024/25 of £1.2m to cover the costs of   
 introducing the new senior management structure. 
  

5. The Companies line is mostly in respect of the repayment of a loan to Slough 
Children First.  Provision for repayment of the loan is not made within the Slough 
Children First business plan. 

 
6. The Minimum Revenue Provision requirements will reduce every year as capital 

asset sales are used to pay down debt. 
  

7. The creation of a reserve to fund redundancy costs. 
  

8. The Settlement figure reflects the increase in Grant funding this financial year, 
offset by the costs of the Council Tax Support Scheme which is expected to 
increase slightly each year. 

  
9. Council Tax has been assumed to increase by 4.99% every year from 2024/25 

onwards. 
  

10. Savings of £12.9m are required every year until 2028/29, the final year when a 
Capitalisation Direction would be needed. 
 

10 RESERVES 
 
 
10.1 The table below shows a summary of the reserves held by the Council.  As there 

are several years of unaudited accounts prior to 2022/23 the figures as at 31 March 
2022 (and therefore by extension at 31 March 2023) are subject to change.  The 
table shows, subject to the caveat above, that there are £53.5m of reserves, of 

Page 29



 

 
 

which the largest item is the General Fund General Reserve, called the Budget 
Smoothing Reserve, which is £38.6m 

 
 
 Table 13 Summary of Reserves 
 

  
  
11 IMPLICATIONS OF THE REPORT 
 
 
11.1 Financial Implications 
 
11.1.1 These are set out within the report. 
 
11.2 Legal Implications 
 
11.2.1 Section 31 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 requires the Council to set a 

balanced budget at the start of each financial year. Section 28 of the Local 
Government Act 2003 requires all local authorities to review actual expenditure 
against this budget on a regular basis during the year. Where it appears that there 
has been a deterioration in the financial position, the local authority must take such 
action as is necessary to deal with the situation. 
 

11.2.2 The Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities made a 
direction under s.15 of the Local Government Act 1999 on 1 December 2021 (which 
has subsequently been updated). The Direction required an action plan to achieve 
financial sustainability and to close the long-term budget gap.  This report contains 
significant information on the work undertaken to achieve financial sustainability 
and to close the long-term budget gap, although the Council will still need a 
capitalisation direction for some years to come. In addition, the appointed 
commissioners have reserve powers to exercise the function of proper 
administration of the Council’s financial affairs and all functions associated with the 
strategic financial management of the Council, including providing advice and 
challenge of the budget and scrutinising all in-year amendments to annual budgets.  

 

Page 30



 

 
 

 
11.3 Risk Management Implications 
 
11.3.1 The 2022/23 outturn is subject to External Audit which may lead to revisions to the 

numbers presented and a consequent impact on the Council’s finances. 
11.3.2 There are a number of significant variations to budget included in this report with 

the consequence being these could impact over more than one year.  These are 
managed through the revised Budget Management process for 2023/24 and need 
to be considered as part of the Budget Setting process for 2024/25. 

 
11.4  Environmental implications  
 
11.4.1 There are no specific environmental implications arising from this report. 
 
11.5  Equality implications  
 
11.5.1 There are no specific equality implications from this report.  
 
11.6  Procurement implications  
 
11.6.1 There are no specific procurement implications arising from this report. 
 
11.7  Workforce implications  
 
11.7.1 There are no specific workforce implications arising from this report. 
  
11.8  Property implications  
 
11.8.1 These are set out within the report. 
 
 
  

Page 31



 

 
 

  
Appendix A : Capitalisation Direction Letter  
 

 
 
  

Page 32



 

 
 

 
 
  

Page 33



 

 
 

 
 
  

Page 34



 

 
 

 
 
  

Page 35



 

 
 

 
 
  

Page 36



 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 37



 

 
 

 
 
  

Page 38



 

 
 

 
  

Page 39



 

 
 

 
Appendix B : Commissioner’s Instruction 1 
 

 

Page 40



 

 
 

 
Appendix C: Asset Sales 
 

 
  

Page 41



 

 
 

Appendix D – Detailed Capital Outturn 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 42



 

 
 

 

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

 
Slough Borough Council 

 
REPORT TO:     Cabinet 
  
DATE:  18 September 2023 
  
SUBJECT: Budget Monitoring Quarter 1 
  
CHIEF OFFICER: Adele Taylor – Executive Director, Finance & 

Commercial (Section 151 Officer) 
 

CONTACT OFFICER: Neil Haddock, Interim Strategic Finance 
Manager, Financial Planning & Reporting 

  
WARD(S): All 
  
PORTFOLIO: Councillor Smith – Leader of the Council 

Councillor Chahal – Lead Member Financial 
Oversight 

  
KEY DECISION: YES 
  
EXEMPT: NO 
  
DECISION SUBJECT TO CALL IN: YES 
  
APPENDICES: 1 People (Adults) 

2 People (Childrens) 
3 Place & Community 
4 Housing, Planning & Place 
5 Strategy & Improvement 
6 Finance & Commercial, & Corporate Budgets 
7 Capital Projects detail, General Fund & HRA 
8 Contingency Budget (Inflation) Proposed   
Virements detail 
9 Contingency Budget (General) Potential calls 
detail 
 
 

1 Summary and Recommendations 
 

1.1 This report sets out the forecast position of the Council for the financial year 
2023/24 as at the end of the first quarter, June 30 2023. 

 
Recommendations: 
 
 Cabinet is recommended to agree the following: 

 
1. That Lead Members work with individual Executive Directors to reduce the forecast 

overspend ahead of the Quarter 2 monitoring report for Cabinet   
 

Page 45

AGENDA ITEM 5



 

 
 

2. To authorise a virement from centrally held budgets to Adult Social Care allowing 
expenditure against the 2 ring fenced grants, of £1.2m and £0.6m, that have been 
awarded this year.  

 
3. To authorise a virement from centrally held budgets to service directorates in 

respect of inflationary pressures, amounting to £3.3m of the £5.3m available, and 
allow the balance of £1.9m to be added to the General Contingency 
 

4. To authorise a virement from centrally held budgets to service directorates in 
respect of pressures, other than inflation, amounting to £1.6m of the £12.4m 
available. 

 
5. To authorise the funding of the one-off payment of £5.312m to Slough Children First 

in respect of prior year deficits from the Budget Equalisation Reserve, subject to the 
Slough Childrens First Business Plan (elsewhere on the agenda) being agreed.  
 

6. To delegate the Executive Director of Finance and Commercial, in consultation with 
the Lead Member for Finance and Finance Commissioner, to allocate the pay 
inflation of £2.8m held centrally to departments once the pay award is known. 

 
That Cabinet note the following. 

 
1. Service revenue budgets are forecast to overspend by £24.4m in 2023/24; centrally 

held contingencies once allocated will mitigate this in part, and reduce the forecast 
overspend to £8.4m.  Corporate underspends in respect of interest costs and the 
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) amount to £3.1m and reduce the overall 
forecast to an overspend of £5.3m 

 
2. Medium Term Financial Strategy Savings (MTFS) of £19.7m are expected to be 

delivered against planned savings of £22.4m.   
 
 

3. That the Capital programme is forecast to underspend by £17.2m  
 

Commissioner Review  

 
In the challenging social and economic climate with risks inherent in several of the 
Council’s operations and financial pressures carried forward from previous years, it is 
important that members and officers fully understand the budget and are accountable 
for the delivery of it. This includes the delivery of savings and the need to manage in-
year pressures. Clear transparent reporting is needed to identify issues as they arise 
and take the urgent corrective action required to support the Council’s overarching aim 
to be a Council that lives within its means, which is essential to its long-term financial 
sustainability. 
  
The commissioners are content with this report recognising that overall, this leaves the 
Council with an in-year deficit still be addressed. 

  

Page 46



 

 
 

2 Report – Introduction 
 
 
2.1 The 2023/24 budget and Medium-Term Finance Strategy were approved by Full 

Council on 9th of March 2023 based on an estimated financial deficit in the 
Capitalisation Directive (CD) of: 

 
• £267.1m up to 2022/23 
• £31.6m for 2023/24 
• £58.4m for post 2023/24 

  
2.2 The General Fund revenue budget was approved at £143.4m and included growth 

of £12.2m and savings by Directorates of £22.4m. The budgets set were and are 
cash limited budgets and all budget holders need to manage in year pressures 
within those cash limited budgets. The forecasts in this report are against those 
cash limited budgets.  However, a significant proportion of the General Fund budget 
is currently held centrally and needs to be distributed to directorates.  There is a 
permanent budget of £22.2m held centrally, intended for distribution as follows: 
 

• £12.4m general contingency 
• £  6.9m for contract inflation 
• £  2.8m for pay inflation 

 
2.3 In addition, the Adult Social Care budget contains income for three grants.  Two of 

these are ring-fenced and carry expenditure commitments but with no allowance 
made for the associated expenditure.  Virements in respect of these will increase 
the spending power of the Directorate to rectify this position. The other grant where 
the income should instead be treated in the accounts as “Sources of Finance” is an 
accounting adjustment with no impact on the position.  The grants are as follow: 

 
 

Market Sustainability & Improvement Fund   £1,207,019 
Adult Social Care Discharge Fund   £   559,310 
Social Care Grant     £7,759,622 
Total       £9,525,951 

 
 

2.4 The outturn for 2022/23 and the Quarter 1 forecast for 2023/34 will inform the 
updating of the Capitalisation Direction model and the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy (MTFS) in the context of the following:  
 

• 2018/19 Accounts awaiting final sign-off from the auditors, Grant Thornton. 
• 2019/20 Accounts prepared with external audit expected to begin July 2023 
• 2020/21 Accounts partially prepared but yet to be fully completed, in light of 

2019/20 waiting audit. 
• 2021/22 to be completed. 
• 2022/23 to be completed. 
• 2023/24 budget delivery/forecast. 
• 2024/25 - 2028/29 MTFS work is at a very early stage, in line with other local 

authority timelines. 
 

Page 47



 

 
 

2.5 Having multiple financial years actively being worked on is an extremely challenging 
environment and adds considerable risk and uncertainty to financial planning.  In 
this context the period 3 forecast for 2023/24 is indicating that: 

 
• Service budgets are forecast to overspend by £24.4m before allocation of 

centrally held budgets.  Issues remain to be resolved in respect of funding 
inflationary uplifts and pressures for 23/24 which are in part dependent upon the 
outturn for 2022/23 and the impact this has on reserves and contingencies.  At 
this stage there is £16.0m that can be distributed which reduces the forecast 
overspend to £8.4m.  This is reduced to £5.3m once Corporate underspends on 
interest and the MRP amounting to £3.1m are taken into account. 
 

• £15.6m savings, 70% of the £22.4m total savings required in 2023/24, have 
been identified as delivered or on track to be delivered, with a forecast that 
£19.6m (88%) will eventually be delivered.  Savings are classified as being 
B(lue/delivered) R(ed) A(mber) G(reen) or Mitigating savings. 

 
• There is inconsistency between the reporting that savings are being delivered 

and the significant overspend that is being forecast.  This suggests that the 
overspends reported are too pessimistic, the savings being delivered is too 
optimistic, or that the delivery of savings is not feeding through to the forecasts.  
It could also suggest that existing pressures within the system had not been fully 
recognised previously.  Deep dive reviews per directorate at a line by line level 
to assess this in detail have been undertaken to identify actions to manage the 
resulting overspends, but the impact of these actions will only be included in 
forecasts once there is evidence that these will deliver real cashable reductions 
in spend. 

 
• The Housing Revenue Account is forecasting a surplus of £0.1m for the year. 

 
• The Dedicated Schools Grant is forecasting a carry forward deficit of £12.8m at 

the end of year inclusive of Safety Valve funding. 
 

• Corporate Budgets will play a critical role in determining the overall outturn 
position for 2023/24.  These budgets, alongside the one-off reserves and 
provisions on the Balance Sheet, provide the means to manage the financial 
risks of the Council, whether those take the form of inflation, pay awards, other 
budget pressures and/or changes in circumstances during the year.  These will 
also be subject to that deep dive review. 

, 
• The Capital Programme (General Fund) is showing an underspend of £17.2m 

against a budget of £36.3m, of which £11.4m is due to slippage on timescales 
where the budget will need to be rolled forward into next year, and £5.6m is 
identified as savings on the programme. 
 

• The Capital Programme (HRA) is showing a minor underspend of £61k against 
a budget of £10.1m. 

 
• The funding available and the estimated commitments against that funding are 

being reviewed to ensure prudent and transparent financial management are 

Page 48



 

 
 

undertaken in 2023/24, which in turn will inform the development of the MTFS 
and the budget for 2024/25.  Potentially the Corporate Budgets counterbalance 
the forecast overspend relating to service budgets in 2023/24, however further 
work is required to ensure that any financial commitments and risks are built 
upon robust assumptions.   

 
 

3 GENERAL FUND  
 
 
3.1 Service departments are collectively projecting an overspend of £24.4m at the end 

of month 3, before allocation of centrally held budgets which will need to be formally 
agreed by cabinet.  Centrally held budgets amounting to £16.0m are potentially 
available to reduce the underspend to £8.4m; at this stage it is recommended that 
virements totalling £6.6m are made, £6.1m to service directorates and £0.5m to a 
Corporate budget for bad debt provision.  As this movement of £0.5m is within 
Corporate budgets, this does not show up in the table below. 

 
3.2 The predominant theme emerging is of unrealisable income targets being reported, 

some of which date back to previous years too.  There are also service pressures 
leading to overspends where expenditure is greater than budgeted for, most notably 
in People (Adults) as well as homelessness, highways maintenance, and contract 
inflation unbudgeted for.   

 
3.3 Slough Children First is a wholly owned company providing statutory social care 

services for the Council.  There is a separate report on the Cabinet agenda on its 
business plan and financial situation, which includes that it has significant unfunded 
deficits from the two previous financial years totalling £5.312m and is projecting a 
significant shortfall in funding this year, despite the contract sum being increased.  

 
3.4 The company has been encouraged to submit in-year contract change requests in 

year at the point it submits that additional funding is required.  This should avoid a 
future situation where there are unfunded deficits in previous years.  Where there 
are underspends, these tend to be around staffing, partly where vacancies are 
being held, but also notably where vacancies cannot be filled.  In Finance this is 
leading to a significant overspend with the bulk of posts being held by interims. 

 
3.5 There are options for addressing some of this service overspend.  Centrally held 

contingency budgets amount to £21m and it is proposed that £16.0m can be 
distributed which will mitigate the current position.  The balance of the total 
contingency proposed to be retained centrally.  Further work is underway to 
establish the full extent of the headroom available, including the potential use of 
one-off reserves and contingencies derived from the final outturn position for 
Corporate Budgets in 2022/23. 

  

Page 49



 

 
 

Table 1 – General Fund Forecast 
 

 
 

 
3.6 Within the People (Adults) Directorate there are forecast overspends related to the 

costs of services for all areas of on-going long-term support and care, including 
Older People, People with Learning Disabilities, and Mental Health.  There is also a 
significant overspend, caused by both staffing and operational pressures, in respect 
of short-term services, which support Hospital Discharge.  This should be funded 
from the Better Care Fund, and Hospital Discharge grant. 

 
3.7 In addition, within Adults an element of the overspend will be in respect of uplifts 

that have already been paid to some providers, but where the budget has not yet 
been distributed. 

 
3.8 There are underspends in Children’s services in Children Management, and School 

Effectiveness, as well as on the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG). The largest 
underspend is due to holding vacancies in School Effectiveness. The Children’s 
company (SCF) are forecasting an overspend of £4.4m in line with the expectations 
outlined in their business plan, although this is after significant in-year action to 
manage further pressures of around £1.6m.  If these actions do not result in SCF 

Page 50



 

 
 

being able to contain their overspend to £4.4m this could increase their request for 
additional contract sums by up to £1.6m and a subsequent pressure on Council 
finances. 

 
3.9 Within Place and Communities, the significant pressures mostly arise from 

unachievable internal recharge income targets and contract inflation which has had 
to be paid but which is not yet funded. 

 
3.10 Within Housing, Planning & Property, the significant pressures also arise from 

unachievable income targets, particularly in respect of recharges to the Housing 
Revenue Account (HRA).  There is also significant demand for Temporary 
Accommodation.  The pressure was initially reported as being £2.1m in period 3; 
however, corrective action in the form of work starting on auditing use of temporary 
accommodation, the management of voids for Council owned stock, which should 
help bring expenditure levels down and on ensuring improved rent collection from 
service users and this pressure is now being reported as £1.6m.  Pressure on non-
HRA housing costs has also been reduced by agreeing a recharge for asset 
contract management should be transferred to the HRA (£300k) 

 
3.11 The most significant variance in Strategy and Improvement relates to the risk that 

the savings item in respect of support services will only be partly delivered in year. 
 
3.12 Within Finance the most significant pressure is from staff costs due to the number 

of interim staff in senior positions in Finance.  Recruitment for these posts is active 
and the forecast assumes all senior positions will be replaced with permanent staff 
by December 2023.  There are also pressures from significantly increased costs of 
insurance (£0.9m) and Housing Benefit subsidy claims from the DWP (£0.8m)  

 
3.13 Corporate Budgets show an underspend of £16m reflective of the expectation that 

release of the Contingency budget will reduce Service overspends by that amount.   
 
3.14 The Capital Financing budget line comprises budgets for Interest charges on short 

and long term, market and PWLB loans, and interest earned on investments.  The 
favourable variance of £1.9m is nearly all explained by a £2.0m underspend on the 
interest costs of Market Loans, due to having been paid down debts from the 
proceeds of asset sales.  This has also impacted on the Minimum Revenue 
Provision budget, which is showing an underspend of £1.2m 

 
3.15 The summary for savings is shown in the next table  
 

The table shows some savings have already been delivered, and confidence that a 
significant proportion will be delivered in the year. There are some risks in People 
(Adults) and in Place & Community of non–delivery.  At this stage only one saving is 
considered undeliverable, the vacancy factor within Finance and Commercial.  
 
With finance being reliant on interims at present there is in fact an overspend 
against budget and this saving cannot be achieved this year. 

  

Page 51



 

 
 

Table 2 – Saving delivery Summary 

 
 

3.16 Elements of savings items within Place are considered undeliverable this year, and 
the full saving from charging for green waste is not considered achievable, with 
perhaps £275k unlikely to be delivered. 

 
3.17 Corporate Budgets show an underspend of £16m reflective of the expectation that 

release of the Contingency budget will reduce Service overspends by that amount. 
 

 
4 HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA)  

 
 
4.1 The HRA accounts for revenue expenditure and income relating to the Council’s 

housing stock and is ringfenced from the General Fund.  It must include all costs 
and income relating to the Council’s housing landlord role (except in respect of 
households owed a homeless duty, and in respect of accommodation provided 
other than under Housing Act powers). 
 

4.2 A prudent and pragmatic approach has been adopted to reflect the financial realities 
facing the Council, hence the HRA capital programme for the next five years has 
been reduced to £52.7m in comparison to £123.4m for the previous 5 year period.  
 

4.3 The HRA is currently forecasting an in-year surplus of £0.9m, £0.1m in excess of 
the budget. The surplus will be transferred to general reserves at the end of the 
financial year.  

  

Page 52



 

 
 

 
Table 3 – HRA Forecast 

 

Description Budget 
£'000 

Forecast 
£'000 

Variance 
£'000 

Total HRA Expenditure 40,355 40,087 (268) 
Total HRA Income (41,156) (41,006) 150 
(Surplus)/Deficit for the year (801) (919) (118) 

 
4.4 Key areas of variance include –  
 

• Repairs & Maintenance Services - (£0.5m) underspend, mainly arising from 
lower than expected costs for Hawker House and Asbestos Management.  
 

• Other Services - £0.2m overspend, mainly from additional costs for Building & 
Window Cleaning. These will be fully offset by underspend elsewhere. 
 

• Rents – £150k under-recovery, the projected rent from Land has been adjusted 
downwards to reflect realistic expectations. This will be fully offset by 
underspend elsewhere. 

 
5 DEDICATED SCHOOLS GRANT (DSG) 

 
5.1 Dedicated schools grant (DSG) is paid in support of local authority schools’ and  
 education providers and covers four distinct funding blocks: 
 

1. Early Years Block (EYB) – Funding for pre-school aged children 
2. Schools Block (SB) – Funding for mainstream schools 
3. High Needs Block (HNB) - Funding children with Special Educational Needs 

and Disabilities 
4. Central Schools Services Block (CSSB) – Funding services provided by the 

Local Authority to support schools and education providers. 
 
5.2 The overall provisional DSG deficit in 2022/23 was £0.1m and represents a better 

position than previously forecast of £1.6m. The High Needs Block has a provisional 
deficit of £0.4m, the Central School Services Block a provisional deficit of £0.4m 
and the Schools Block is a deficit of £15k. The Early Years Block has a provisional 
surplus of £0.7m, which gives the overall provisional deficit position for 2022/23. 
The overall cumulative deficit is forecast to reduce to £12.8m by year end. Any 
additional Government funding forecast (£3.2m in 2023/24) is subject to the council 
managing its DSG recovery plan as part of the grant conditions and close 
monitoring by the DfE. 
 
Table 4  DSG 
 
Cumulative forecast brough forward £m 
Deficit carried forward from 2021/22 25.470 
In Year forecast deficit/(surplus) 0.097 
Safety Value Funding  -12.800 
Cumulative Forecast carried forward  12.767 

Page 53



 

 
 

6 ASSET SALES 
 

 
6.1 The Council’s financial recovery plan is heavily dependent on the delivery of the 

asset disposal strategy. The Asset Disposal programme yielded capital receipts of 
£195m in 2022/23 and is forecast currently to yield £383.9m in total. However, a 
complication has been identified in relation to the pipeline of disposable assets in 
that some of them are designated as belonging to the HRA, as such these assets 
will need to be declared surplus to the needs of the HRA and transferred to the 
General Fund before they can be sold to benefit the recovery of the Council.  This in 
turn requires the HRA to be suitably compensated from the General Fund for the 
value of the assets transferred, which consequently may adversely affect the total 
value of the capital receipts achieved.  Further work is being undertaken to 
determine the impact of this situation. 

 
6.2 The forecast is subject to a more detailed review of the assets already identified for 

disposal in terms of: 
 

• Further due diligence information that has been discovered, some of which 
impacts directly on values achievable and timescales for completion of 
transactions.  

• Changing market and economic conditions, which are generally having a 
negative impact on values – e.g. increasing interest rates, declining appetite 
for developers/investors entering the market and lenders tightening criteria 
for loans 

 
6.3 The current forecast also includes operational and community assets, some of 

which we are likely to retain.  The Estate Strategy (in development) will inform 
which operational and community assets will be retained, and which can be 
sold.  This will clearly have a significant impact on the overall disposals forecast. 

 
 
7 CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
 
 
7.1 The General Fund capital budget in 2023/24 is £36.3m pending approval of 

slippage requests of £3.9m and approval of a draw down from “Grants and 
Contributions” reserve of £0.7m. 

 
7.2 The budget is forecasting an underspend of £17.1m for 2023/24.  Of this, £11.4m is 

due to delayed starts on various projects and the budget will need to be slipped to 
future years.  Included in this is £2.6m within Childrens Services which will be used 
in 2024/25 on SEN projects in various schools that are unable to be completed this 
year due to capacity.  Also included is the A4 Cycle Lane project (£6.6m), with 
preliminary designs being submitted to Cabinet in July; this the project will continue 
into 2024/25.  
 

7.3 There have been savings identified of £5.6m arising from 2 areas; first, the Nova 
House loan (£4.6m) and secondly the Hub Development (£1.0m).  Further 
reductions to the capital programme relating to the Urban Trees Challenge Fund 
(£0.1m) are due to this being reclassified as a revenue project, as it did not meet 
the criteria to be classified as capital.  
 

Page 54



 

 
 

7.4 The slippage and release from reserve figures are subject to approval in the 
2022/23 Outturn Report which is also being reported to Cabinet today.  
 

7.5 The Capital HRA budget in 2023/24 is £10.1m pending approval of slippage 
requests of £1.3m.  
 

7.6 The budget is forecasting an underspend of £61k, all due to slippage on projects.  
 

7.7 The table below summaries the financial position for capital expenditure.  
 
Table 5: Capital Programme 

 

 
 
 

8 VIREMENTS 
 
8.1 A significant proportion of the budget is held centrally, and needs distributing to 

directorates.  There is £22.2m held centrally intended for distribution as follows: 
 

• £12.4m general contingency 
• £  6.9m for contract inflation 
• £  2.8m for pay inflation 

 
8.2 The Adult Social Care budget contains income for three grants.  Two are ring-

fenced and carry expenditure commitments where no allowance was made for the 
expenditure, mainly increased fees to providers. Virements in respect of these 
increase the Directorate’s spending power in line with grant requirements.  The 
other where the income should instead be treated in the accounts as “Sources of 
Finance”.  A virement here is an accounting adjustment.  The grants are as follow: 

 
Market Sustainability & Improvement Fund   £1,207,019 
Adult Social Care Discharge Fund   £   559,310 
Social Care Grant      £7,759,622 
Total        £9,525,951 

Page 55



 

 
 

 
8.4 It is recommended that Cabinet authorises virements from the centrally held 

Inflation Contingency to increase the Adult Social Care expenditure budgets by 
£1.8m in respect of the first two grants and authorises the movement of the Social 
Care grant to “Sources of Finance” to ensure its proper accounting treatment.  

 
8.5 It is recommended virements are authorised in respect of contract inflation.  The 

principle applied in arriving at these recommendations is that the increase in cost is 
on the basis of contractual increases that are unavoidable, where a corresponding 
decrease in volume is not viable, or where refusing fee uplifts could lead to higher 
prices due to the risk of provider withdrawal (in particular for Social Care).  

 
8.6 The table below summarises the proposed virements by Directorate, with Appendix 

8 providing the detail by contract.  As can be seen there is £1.9m that can be 
retained.  In the light of the overspend on service budgets contained within this 
report it is proposed that this is added to the General contingency. 

 
 Table 6: Virements from Contingency (Inflation) 

 

 
 
8.7 It is recommended allocations are made from general contingency to address 

pressures that have arisen, and currently showing in Directorate overspends.  The 
principle applied is that pressures either had to have been identified as calls on the 
contingency budget when setting the approved Council budget, or that pressures 
that have emerged are considered unavoidable.  In addition, pressures need to be 
considered permanent in order for a permanent budget virement to be approved.   

 
8.8 The table shows £1.6m where a virement is considered appropriate to address the 

budget pressure that has arisen.  Appendix 9 shows a full list of identified potential 
calls on the Contingency budget in future periods, amounting to £8.0m 

 
  

Page 56



 

 
 

Table 7: Virements from Contingency (General) 
 

 
 
 

9 FUNDING 
 
9.1 At this stage it is considered prudent to forecast receipts from Council Tax and 

Business Rates to be on budget.  The Capitalisation Direction has changed in the 
light of the in year position.  The forecast overspend increases the Budget Gap from 
£31.6m to £36.9m, and also has implications for future financial years.  The 
information below is only for indicative purposes and to ensure that the potential 
financial risks of the Council are understood, if the Council does not take action to 
address the current financial risks being highlighted.   
 

9.2 In updating the Capitalisation Direction figures, the model shows what the 
implications are if the overspend is both permanent and not managed down. 
Mitigating actions are necessary to bring the overspend down, and the 
Capitalisation Direction and these actions must be on a sustainable basis. 

 
Table 8 : Funding 
 

 
 

Page 57



 

 
 

9.2 The table below shows at a very highly summarized level, the changes to the 
Budget Gap model brought about by the slightly better than expected outturn 
position, and the current forecast overspend position.  This year’s overspend is, 
within the model, treated as a permanent feature; it rolls forward and therefore adds 
to the Budget Gap by a similar figure in future years meaning it takes one further 
year to completely clear the Budget Gap, and the total Budget Gap increases.   
 

 
 
9.3 There are many assumptions contained in the model, which are outlined below the 

next table, which details the different cost drivers and funding flows that comprise 
the estimated Budget Gap. 

 

 
 

1. The following year’s budget gap rolls forward and is then subject to incremental 
changes 

  
2. It is assumed that every financial year balances against the assumptions made in 

the model, that there is no over or underspend. 
  

3. The Emerging Pressures covers this year’s contingency budget, the loss of income 
from assets as they are sold, the removal of time-limited Transformation budgets, 
and the transfer of debt from short to long term. 

  
4. There is additional growth required every year to cover pressures from 

demography, inflation and other new pressures of £10m (this was included in the 
original model) 
 

5. In addition there is £1.4m per year included to reflect pay up lifts; this is higher 
(£2.8m) in 2024/25 and other on-going changes of £1.2m in 2024/25  

  

Page 58



 

 
 

6. The Companies line is mostly in respect of the repayment of a loan to Slough 
Children First 

 
7. The Minimum Revenue Provision requirements will reduce every year as capital 

asset sales are used to pay down debt 
  

8. The creation of a reserve to fund redundancy and other transition costs. 
  

9. The Settlement figure reflects the increase in Grant funding this financial year, 
offset by the costs of the Council Tax Support Scheme which is expected to 
increase slightly each year 

  
10. Council Tax has been assumed to increase by 4.99% every year from 2024/25 

onwards. 
  

11. Savings of £12.9m are required every year until 2028/29, the final year when a 
Capitalisation Direction would be needed. 

 
 
10 IMPLICATIONS OF THE REPORT 
  
10.1 Financial Implications 
  
10.1.1 These are fully set out within the report. 
  
10.2 Legal Implications 
  
10.2.1 Section 31 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 requires the Council to set a 

balanced budget at the start of each financial year. Section 28 of the Local 
Government Act 2003 requires all local authorities to review actual expenditure 
against this budget on a regular basis during the year. Where it appears that there 
has been a deterioration in the financial position, the local authority must take such 
action as is necessary to deal with the situation. 
  

10.2.2 The Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities made a 
direction under s.15 of the Local Government Act 1999 on 1 December 2021 (which 
has subsequently been updated). The Direction required an action plan to achieve 
financial sustainability and to close the long-term budget gap.  This report contains 
significant information on the work undertaken to achieve financial sustainability 
and to close the long-term budget gap, although the Council will still need a 
capitalisation direction for some years to come. In addition, the appointed 
commissioners have reserve powers to exercise the function of proper 
administration of the Council’s financial affairs and all functions associated with the 
strategic financial management of the Council, including providing advice and 
challenge of the budget and scrutinising all in-year amendments to annual budgets. 

 
10.2.3 The Council’s best value duty requires it to keep under review its services to ensure 

continuous improvement.  This includes having a financial strategy and budgets 
which are clearly aligned with strategic priorities and a robust process for reviewing 
and setting the budget.  There should be a robust system of financial controls and 
reporting to ensure clear accountability and a clear strategy to maintain adequate 
reserves.  There should be collective accountability for the budget and MTFS both 
at officer and political level.  Regular financial reporting to Cabinet ensures 

Page 59



 

 
 

members are aware of the issues mid-year and the mitigating measures in place, 
as well as providing for public accountability.   

  
10.3    Risk Management Implications 
  
10.3.1 There is clearly a risk that the revenue savings for 2023/24 will prove difficult to 

deliver. Realising the forecast outturn depends on: 
 

• achieving the predicted level of savings shown in Table 2    

• absorbing within existing expenditure any emerging cost pressures  

• Achieving the planned level of asset sales 

• the Capitalisation Direction being sufficient to cover on a permanent basis 
any deficits, shortfalls in savings delivery, new pressures, cost of living 
and economic impacts that may arise 

 
10.3.2 To mitigate these risks the Council is  
 

• Progressing with the preparation and audit of prior year accounts in order 
to establish with certainty the historic financial position 

• Moving forward with the Finance Improvement Plan 

• Undertaking Deep Dive Reviews of directorate budgets, led by the 
Executive Director of Finance and the relevant service Executive Director 
to seek opportunities for both immediate and longer-term savings 

 
10.4  Environmental implications  
  
10.4.1 There are no specific environmental implications arising from this report. 
  
10.5  Equality implications  
  
10.5.1 There are no specific identified equality implications from this report. Equality 

impact assessments are undertaken for any savings proposals, or, where relevant, 
any corrective actions to reduce the overspend. 

  
10.6  Procurement implications  
  
10.6.1 There are no specific procurement implications arising from this report. 
  
10.7  Workforce implications  
  
10.7.1 There are no specific workforce implications arising from this report. 
  
10.8  Property implications  
  
10.8.1 These are set out within the report. 
 

Page 60



 

 
 

Appendix 1 Adult Social Care  
 

Table 1 – Monitoring Forecast 
 

 
  

Notes 
        

1 The projected outturn reflects additional receipt of grants including the Rough Sleeping Drug 
and Alcohol Treatment Grant (£0.475m) and Supplementary Substance Misuse Treatment and 
Recovery Grant (£0.296m).  

2 The projected outturn reflects an overspend relating to Direct Payments to clients of 11% which 
demonstrates the drive to increase independence and choice by giving individuals the control to 
purchase and manage their own support to meet their needs; the overall projected expenditure 
is significantly lower than 2022/23 reflecting the planned delivery of the Transformation Savings 
plans relating to reduced reliance upon Nursing and Residential care. 

3 The projected outturn reflects an overspend relating to payments to third party organisations 
who provide accommodation and support which is reporting a 26% against budget; the overall 
projected expenditure is in line with 2022/23 reflecting increased service cost pressures which 
offset against the Transformation Savings plans which include increasing Health contributions 
and reduced reliance upon Nursing and Residential care.  

4 The projected outturn reflects an overspend relating to payments to third party organisations 
who provide accommodation and support which is reporting a 45% against budget; the overall 
projected expenditure is significantly lower than 2022/23 reflecting the planned delivery of the 
Transformation Savings plans relating to increased scrutiny and review of care packages. 

5 No material projected variance reported for this service area. 
6 Public Health projected outturn should match the budget, however, there may be opportunity 

to invest some of the Public Health grant in prevention programmes within Adults on a 
replacement funding basis, however, would have to consider impact on other funding streams. 
This strategy is reflected as an opportunity rather than included within the projected outturn 
whilst discussions are ongoing.  

7 The projected outturn reflects increased employee and operational costs of 90%. The short-
term service supports Hospital discharge and other temporary services and should be funded 
from the BCF and the discharge fund. 

8 No material projected variance reported for this service area. 
 
 

Page 61



 

 
 

Table 2 – ASC Saving RAG Rating.  
 

 
 

  

Page 62



 

 
 

Appendix 2 Children 
 
Table 1 – Budget Monitoring Position 

 
 Notes         
1 The underspend of £124k represents the additional contribution being made by the 3 PFI schools in 

2023/24 from their delegated schools budget. This will contribute to closing the historical gap of £1.2 
million on the schools overall PFI contract. 

2 The £180k underspend in the School Effectiveness area is due to holding vacancies against a savings 
relating to the restructure of the Education and Inclusion Directorate which has been delayed.  

3 Expecting Inclusion services to Overspend in SEND area due to high staff turn over and additional cost 
of recruiting interims. 

4 The underspend on the DSG is due to a savings on the schools growth fund which is used to fund bulge 
classes. This funding is unlikely to be needed in the next academic year. The DSG is ring-fenced so has to 
stay the overall DSG reserves. 

 
Table 2 – Savings Position 

  

Page 63



 

 
 

Appendix 3 – Place & Community 
 
Table 1 – Budget Monitoring Position 
 

 
 Notes         

1 £140k budget pressure carried forward from last year in Resilience & Enforcement as double recharge 
built in for HRA 

2 Contract Inflation of £800k already in spend, Cemetaries over by £350k due to grounds maintenance, 
licencing, and unrealistic income targets. Lower than budgeted take-up of Green Waste Service 
(14,000 customers budgeted but 8,500 taken up) £275k. Alternate Weekly Waste forecast needs 
further examination hence £400k is a risk. 

3 Underspend in Leisure Services due to £700k increased management fee income contract increase 
4 £2.1m unachievable internal recharge income target/ £425k line for unspecified saving / £160k HRA 

recharge line will not be made offset slightly by Project Work not being spent of £300k 

5 Bus Lane enforcement fines under by £230k due to increased compliance. Multi Storey parking fees 
under recovered by £100k and £250k inflation required 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 64



 

 
 

Table 2 – Savings Position 
 

 
 

 
  

Page 65



 

 
 

Appendix 4 - Housing, Planning and Property 
 
Table 1 Budget Monitoring Position 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 66



 

 
 

Table 2 – Savings Position  
 

 
 

 
 
 
  

Page 67



 

 
 

Appendix 5 – Strategy & Improvement 
 
Table 1 Budget Monitoring Position 
 

 
 Notes         

1 Cabinet approved £0.136m overspend on additional 18 interim staff for the contact centre from 
April to June however underspends within the overall service (from vacancies within the year and 
unfilled posts for all year) has offset this overspend to nil with further surplus of £0.016m in P2. 
However, a further extension for 12 of the supplementary staff has been approved from July to 
October at a cost of £0.134m resulting in the P3 overspend of £0.123m 

2 Underspend £0.098m arises from reduced spend on the training programme £0.067m which is 
directly attributable to posts filled by interim staff when recruitment of permanent staff was 
unsuccessful and £0.031m from part year vacancies. 

3 The £0.048m adverse variance arises from £0.100m forecast spend on IT hardware equipment 
refresh for staff for ageing equipment without an allocated budget. The initial outlay for all staff 
laptops was capitalised, and laptops should be refreshed on a 4year cycle (300 per year). This is 
offset by underspends from staff vacancies as a result of challenges in attracting and recruiting staff 
with the necessary skillset. It is anticipated that last financial year’s underspend arising from delays 
on the modernisation programme (due to the nature of the projects) will be carried forward in 
earmarked reserves to be utilised in this financial year.    

4 The Service estimates that there are risks in the delivery of the full £0.265m Support Services saving  
thus it projects a 50% achievement of the saving consequently creating a pressure of £0.133m 

5 The £0.044m pressure is due to one post that transferred from the Children’s directorate without a 
corresponding budget to fund the post 

6 The £0.186m underspend results from posts unfilled for part of the year due to challenges in 
recruiting staff with the right calibre coupled with the contribution of grant £0.080m received from 
the government and the parishes to cover part of the all-out elections in May. Forecast assumes 
that all vacant posts (4fte) will be filled within the year  

 

Page 68



 

 
 

 
Table 2 Savings 
 

 
 

  

Page 69



 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Finance 
 
Table 1 Budget Monitoring Position 
 

 

 
 
 
 

Page 70



 

 
 

Table 2 Savings 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 71



 

 
 

Appendix 7 – Capital Monitoring 
 
Table 1 – General Fund 

 

Page 72



 

 
 

 Notes           
1 Childrens’ Services have a forecast underspend of £2.6m. This is to be used in 24/25 on SEN 

projects in various schools that were unable to be completed in 23/25 due to capacity. 
2 Loan to GRE5-for Nova House remedial work. No further costs expected for this project. 

Mediation now reached on insurance so will repay bulk of loan to GRE5 - budget of £4.6m no 
longer required. 

3 Hub Development. Budget duplication has now been amended to correct figure. 

4 Asset Disposal. The forecast for this is currently being worked on to validate the expected net 
receipts for 23/24 

5 Urban Tree Challenge Fund. This has been reclassified and will now sit within the PLACE 
revenue forecast. 

6 A4 Cycle Lane. Preliminary designs for this project have been submitted to Cabinet for 
approval in July, the project will therefore have a delayed start and run into 24/25. 

 
Table 2 - HRA 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 73



 

 
 

Appendix 8 – Detailed Bids for Inflation Funding 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 74



 

 
 

Appendix 9 – Detailed Potential Calls on Contingency Funding 
 

 
 

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank



MEMBERS’ ATTENDANCE RECORD 2023/24 
CORPORATE IMPROVEMENT SCRUTINY PANEL 

 
 

 
 
P   = Present for whole meeting  
P*  = Present for part of meeting  
Ap = Apologies given   
Ab = Absent, no apologies given 

 
 

 COUNCILLOR 27 June 2023 25 July 2023 

1.  Manku (Chair) P P 

2.  Shaik (Vice-
Chair) 

P P 

3.  Escott AP P 

4.  Hulme P P 

5.  Iftakhar P P 

6.  Mann P P 

7.  Matloob P P 

8.  Mohindra P P 

9.  O’Kelly P P 

10.  Stedmond P P 

Page 77

AGENDA ITEM 8



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the last meeting held on 25 July 2023
	4 Budget Outturn Report
	1.1	This report sets out the draft revenue and capital outturn position for Slough Borough Council for the year 2022/23
	2	Report – Introduction

	5 Budget Monitoring Report
	1	Summary and Recommendations
	1.1	This report sets out the forecast position of the Council for the financial year 2023/24 as at the end of the first quarter, June 30 2023.
	2	Report – Introduction

	8 Attendance Report

